FILED 8/8/2017 12:44 PM Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

SUPREME COURT NO		
NO. 34374-0-III		
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON		
STATE OF WASHINGTON,		
Respondent,		
v.		
ANGELA MENDOZA,		
Petitioner.		
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY		
The Honorable Michael McCarthy, Judge		
PETITION FOR REVIEW		
JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT		

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

B.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED AND ARGUMENT
	 a. Under Johnson and Fleming, Mendoza's conviction should be reversed due to flagrant and ill-intentioned prosecutorial misconduct. b. Mendoza's conviction should be reversed because the prosecutor caused enduring and incurable prejudice by undermining the presumption of innocence. 7
	2. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MENDOZA IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE SHE WAS DEPRIVED OF EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL
E.	CONCLUSION 12

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
Coffin v. United States 156 U.S. 432, 15 S. Ct. 394, 403, 39 L. Ed. 481 (1895)
<u>State v. Bennett</u> 161 Wn.2d 303, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007)
<u>State v. Emery</u> 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)
<u>State v. Evans</u> 163 Wn. App. 635, 260 P.3d 934 (2011)
<u>State v. Fleming</u> 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996)
<u>State v. Foster</u> 135 Wn.2d 441, 957 P.2d 712 (1998)
<u>State v. Johnson</u> 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010)
State v. King a/k/a Mendoza No. 34374-0-III, filed July 11, 2017
<u>State v. McHenry</u> 13 Wn. App. 421, 535 P. 2d 843 (1975) <u>aff'd</u> , 88 Wn.2d 211 (1977)
<u>State v. Venegas</u> 155 Wn. App. 507, 228 P.3d 813 (2010)
<u>State v. Warren</u> 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
FEDERAL CASES
Estelle v. Williams 425 U.S. 501, 96 S Ct. 1691, 48 L. Ed .2d 126 (1976)
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)
Taylor v. Kentucky 436 U.S. 478, 98 S. Ct. 1930, 56 L. Ed. 2d 468 (1978)
<u>United States v. Thaxton</u> 483 F.2d 1071 (5th Cir. 1973)
RULES, STAUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
9 <u>Wigmore on Evidence</u> § 2511 (3d ed. 1940)
11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 4.01 (3d ed. 2008)
U.S. Const. amend. VI
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
RAP 13.4

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISION BELOW</u>

Angela Mendoza requests this Court grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4 of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in <u>State v. King a/k/a Mendoza</u>, No. 34374-0-III, filed July 11, 2017. A copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The presumption of innocence endures throughout all stages of the trial including jury deliberations unless, during its deliberations, the jury finds the presumption has been overcome by proof of every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct by telling the jury the presumption lasts "until you go into the jury room"?
- 2. Every accused person is entitled to effective assistance of counsel for his defense. Was appellant's right to counsel violated when her attorney failed to object to the prosecutor's argument that undermined the presumption of innocence?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mendoza was tried for first-degree trafficking in stolen property after she returned several items to a "Toys R Us" store in Union Gap, Washington. CP 1; RP 47, 51. She received \$22 in cash and a gift card for

¹ As the Court of Appeals noted, Mendoza is referred to by several different surnames. Like that court, this petition uses the name used at trial: Mendoza. App. at 1.

\$105 in store credit. RP 52-53. She then sold the gift card to her brother for \$60 or \$70. RP 58. The returned items turned out to have been stolen a couple of days earlier from Sylvia Pola Martinez' storage unit. RP 34.

Betty Stevens, an assistant store manager recalled the transaction at which the items were returned. RP 44, 47. She testified the woman who returned them said they had been shipped to her. RP 47. Stevens found that odd because the store number on the receipts was the very store in which they were standing. RP 47. Stevens recognized Mendoza as the woman who, along with two male companions returned the items. RP 47, 50. Stevens provided police with surveillance video of the return, which was admitted into evidence and played for the jury. RP 48-49, 73-80.

Mendoza's brother testified that, in the fall of 2015, she sold him a Toys R Us gift card with \$105 credit on it. RP 57-58. He offered her \$60 or \$70, and she accepted it. RP 58. Her brother's wife testified she was there when this occurred. RP 67. Police also obtained the driver's license number that had been presented when the items were returned; the number was linked to Mendoza. RP 82.

The jury found Mendoza guilty. CP 26. The court imposed the low end of the standard range, 43 months, noting that this could easily have been charged as third degree theft, a gross misdemeanor punishable by no more than 364 days. RP 150; CP 28. The court declared, "if I had a choice, I wouldn't do what I'm compelled to do by the SRA." RP 150.

During closing arguments at trial, the prosecutor told the jury the presumption of innocence "remains here until you go into the jury room and deliberate on the case." RP 119. There was no objection. RP 119. The Court of Appeals agreed that, by using the phrase "until you go into the jury room," the prosecutor misstated the law regarding the presumption of innocence. App. at 2. However, the court affirmed Mendoza's conviction, finding the error could have been corrected had counsel objected. App. at 3. The court also found counsel should have objected, but that failure did not require reversal because Mendoza was not prejudiced. App. at 3.

Chief Judge Fearing concurred in the court's opinion, but wrote separately to decry what he termed "a vacuous state of the law regarding prosecutorial misconduct." App. at 5. Judge Fearing expressed concern that the conflicting decisions in this field of law permit reviewing judges unlimited discretion in deciding outcomes such that "personal partialities" can influence the results of cases. App. at 5. Mendoza asks this Court to grant review and reverse.

D. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED AND ARGUMENT</u>

1. MENDOZA IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE PROSECUTOR UNDERMINED THE PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE.

The presumption of innocence continues throughout the entire trial and may only be overcome, if at all, during deliberations. State v. Evans, 163 Wn. App. 635, 644, 260 P.3d 934, 939 (2011); State v. Venegas, 155 Wn. App. 507, 524, 228 P.3d 813 (2010) (citing 11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 4.01 (3d ed. 2008)). But the prosecutor here told jurors the presumption remains only until they enter the jury room for deliberations. RP 119. This comment misstated the law and misled the jury about the presumption of innocence, the bedrock of our criminal justice system. By eroding the presumption of innocence, the prosecutor's misconduct deprived Mendoza of a fair trial and requires reversal of her conviction.

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals, State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 685-86, 243 P.3d 936 (2010) and State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213-14, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996). Review is also warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because this case presents significant constitutional questions regarding the impact of prosecutorial misconduct that undermines the presumption of innocence

and the prejudice caused when defense counsel is ineffective in failing to object.

a. <u>Under Johnson and Fleming, Mendoza's conviction</u> should be reversed due to flagrant and ill-intentioned prosecutorial misconduct.

The prosecutor's comments in this case require reversal because they undermined the presumption of innocence. Generally speaking, prosecutorial misconduct necessitates a new trial, despite the lack of an objection below, when the misconduct is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it causes enduring prejudice that is incurable by instructing the jury. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. at 685; see also State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). This Court has explained the focus in this analysis should be on the extent of the prejudice and whether it could be cured, not the prosecutor's subjective intent. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762. But, as Judge Fearing noted in concurrence, to do so ignores the "flagrant and ill-intentioned" part of the standard. App. at 14, 16.

Johnson and Fleming both deemed misconduct to be reversible error in part because it was flagrant and ill-intentioned. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. at 685; Fleming, 83 Wn. App. at 213-14. The courts found this aspect of the test was satisfied when the misconduct involved an argument that had been previously recognized as improper in prior published appellate decisions. Id.

Judge Fearing points out that, under <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Fleming</u>, the prosecutor's misconduct in this case was flagrant and ill-intentioned because "Numerous decisions before the date of trial held that a prosecuting attorney should not tell a jury that the presumption of innocence ends when the jury enters the deliberation room. Any prosecutor should know not to render any comment that hints at ending the presumption when the jury goes 'to the jury room and deliberate[s] on the case." App. at 15 (quoting RP 118-19).

Regarding the enduring prejudice aspect of the standard, <u>Johnson</u> also indicates reversal is the correct outcome. In <u>Johnson</u>, despite the correct written jury instructions, the court found that misstating the burden of proof caused "great prejudice because it reduces the State's burden and undermines a defendant's due process rights." <u>Johnson</u>, 158 Wn. App. at 686. Due to several comments undermining the presumption of innocence, the court reversed Johnson's conviction. <u>Id.</u> at 679. Judge Fearing acknowledged the conflict between the Court of Appeals decision in this case on the one hand, and the decisions in <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Fleming</u> on the other hand, stating, "This court, however, chooses not to follow the path of <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Fleming</u>." App. at 15. Judge Fearing also noted that a broad reading of <u>Johnson</u> indicates that no instruction can cure this misstatement. App. at 21. Yet, "This court chooses not to follow the path

of <u>Johnson</u>." App. at 21. Review should be granted to resolve the conflicting decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

 Mendoza's conviction should be reversed because the prosecutor caused enduring and incurable prejudice by undermining the presumption of innocence.

The prosecutorial misconduct in this case violated Mendoza's constitutional rights by undermining the presumption of innocence. Review is also warranted because this case presents a significant question of constitutional law. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Specifically, this case raises the question of how much the State can undermine the presumption of innocence before the accused is deprived of a fair trial.

The presumption of innocence lies at the heart of our criminal law. Coffin v. United States, 156 U.S. 432, 453, 15 S. Ct. 394, 403, 39 L. Ed. 481 (1895); State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 315, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). It is a fundamental component of a fair trial, deriving from the Due Process guarantees of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S Ct. 1691, 48 L. Ed. 2d 126 (1976); Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478, 485-86 n. 13, 98 S. Ct. 1930, 56 L. Ed. 2d 468 (1978).

Juries must be specifically instructed on the presumption of innocence. State v. McHenry, 13 Wn. App. 421, 424, 535 P. 2d 843, 845

(1975) aff'd, 88 Wn.2d 211 (1977); see also Taylor, 436 U.S. at 485 (refusal to give requested instruction on presumption of innocence violated due process). This instruction performs two separate functions. First, as a corollary to the standard of proof, it reminds the jury that the prosecution bears the burden of persuading the jury of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and absent such proof, the jury must acquit. United States v. Thaxton, 483 F.2d 1071, 1073 (5th Cir. 1973). Second, it cautions jurors to remove from their minds any suspicion arising from the arrest and charge itself and to reach their conclusion solely from the evidence presented at trial. Id. (quoting 9 Wigmore on Evidence § 2511, at 407 (3d ed. 1940)).

"The presumption of innocence is the bedrock upon which the criminal justice system stands." Bennett, 161 Wn.2d at 315. By informing the jury that presumption did not apply once the jury is in the jury room deliberating, the prosecutor deprived Mendoza of this fundamental aspect of a fair trial. As Judge Fearing put it, "Angela Mendoza's prosecuting attorney battered the bedrock of our criminal justice system when misstating the presumption of innocence." App. at 21.

When the bedrock of the criminal justice system is undermined, the conviction rests on unstable ground. Mendoza asks this Court to grant review and reverse because the prosecutor diminished the presumption of innocence thereby depriving her of her constitutional right to a fair trial.

2. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MENDOZA IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE SHE WAS DEPRIVED OF EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Like prosecutorial misconduct, the right to effective assistance of counsel is grounded in the right to a fair trial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Analyses of both defense counsel's and the prosecutor's conduct at trial begin with attorney error and conclude with prejudice. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; Johnson, 158 Wn. App. at 683. The difference, however, is that the prosecutorial misconduct analysis asks whether the prejudice could have been cured, had defense counsel offered a timely objection. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. at 685. By contrast, in analyzing defense counsel's conduct, courts look to whether confidence in the outcome, in the fairness of the trial, is undermined such that there is a reasonable probability the outcome would have been different absent counsel's error. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.

If this Court finds the prosecutor's statement undermining the presumption of innocence could have been cured by an instruction to the jury, then counsel was constitutionally ineffective in failing to request such an instruction. Review should be granted because this case presents a significant question of constitutional law, namely, the prejudice caused when defense counsel fails to take steps to ensure the defendant receives the full benefit of the presumption of innocence. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

In this case, there is, as the <u>Strickland</u> standard requires, a reasonable probability that, absent counsel's error the outcome of the trial would have been different. 466 U.S. at 694. Given the flagrant misstatement of the law, it is extremely likely that an objection would have led to some sort of corrective instruction by the court. <u>See Johnson</u>, 158 Wn. App. at 685; <u>Fleming</u>, 83 Wn. App. at 213-14. As this Court has frequently noted, juries are presumed to follow such instructions. <u>State v. Warren</u>, 165 Wn.2d 17, 28, 195 P.3d 940 (2008); <u>State v. Foster</u>, 135 Wn.2d 441, 472, 957 P.2d 712 (1998).

Without a jury instruction correcting the prosecutor's misstatement, the jury was likely to believe that the presumption of innocence was slowly eroding during the trial. The written jury instructions state that the presumption of innocence continues throughout the trial unless (rather than until) the jury finds it has been over come by proof beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 15. But the subtle, yet important, distinction between "unless" and "until" may very well be lost on the jury. It would be logical, although improper, for the jury to view the concept as the prosecutor did in Venegas, 155 Wn. App. 507. In that case, the prosecutor told the jury the presumption of innocence "erodes each and every time you hear evidence that the defendant is guilty.... Every single time that evidence is presented that the defendant is guilty as charged, then

that presumption erodes little by little, bit by bit." <u>Id.</u> at 524. From a layperson's perspective, this understanding is consistent with both the written jury instructions and the prosecutor's improper argument. Absent an instruction, the prosecutor's improper argument was likely to lead the jury to this incorrect interpretation. It is reasonably probable the jury misunderstood the presumption of innocence.

And it is further reasonably probable that misunderstanding played a decisive role in the outcome. The primary disputed issue in this case was the required element of whether Mendoza knew the items were stolen. RCW 9A.92.050. There was no direct evidence of her state of mind. Thus, a slow erosion of the presumption of innocence undermines confidence in the outcome. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. This Court should grant review and reverse Mendoza's conviction because trial counsel's failure to object deprived Mendoza of the full benefit of the presumption of innocence, thereby depriving her of a fair trial. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with other published cases by the Court of Appeals, and this case presents significant constitutional questions relating to the presumption of innocence, the right to a fair trial, and the right to effective assistance of counsel. Mendoza therefore asks this Court to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3) and reverse her conviction.

DATED this 8 day of August, 2017.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC

JENNIFEK J. SWEIGERT

WSBA No. 38068 Office ID No. 91051 Attorney for Appellant

Appendix

FILED JULY 11, 2017

In the Office of the Clerk of Court WA State Court of Appeals, Division III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,)	No. 34374-0-III
)	
Respondent,)	
)	
v.)	
)	UNPUBLISHED OPINION
ANGELA ELIZABETH KING,)	
a/k/a ANGELA ELIZABETH MENDOZA,)	
a/k/a ANGELA ELIZABETH VARGAS,)	
)	
Appellant.	<u>)</u>	

PENNELL, J. — Angela Elizabeth Mendoza¹ appeals her conviction for trafficking in stolen property in the first degree. She contends the prosecutor committed flagrant irremediable misconduct by misstating the law regarding the presumption of innocence during closing argument. Alternatively, she argues she received ineffective assistance of counsel when defense counsel failed to object to this misstatement. We affirm.

¹ The appellant is identified by several surnames in the record on appeal. For clarity and consistency, we refer to her by the one utilized throughout trial: Mendoza.

ANALYSIS

Ms. Mendoza was convicted of first degree trafficking in stolen property. The facts of Ms. Mendoza's case leading up to trial are irrelevant to the issue on appeal and need not be recounted. Instead, Ms. Mendoza's complaint rests on the following statement uttered by the prosecuting attorney during closing argument: "We've talked about the presumption of innocence. The defendant is presumed to be innocent at this point. *That presumption remains here until you go to the jury room and deliberate on the case.*"

3 Verbatim Report of Proceedings (Mar. 24, 2016) at 118-19 (emphasis added). The defense raised no objection to this statement during trial. Nevertheless, Ms. Mendoza claims the prosecutor's comment requires reversal either under a theory of prosecutorial misconduct or ineffective assistance of counsel.

We agree with Ms. Mendoza that the prosecutor misstated the law. Our cases explain that the "presumption of innocence continues 'throughout the entire trial' and may be overcome, if at all, only during the jury's deliberations." *State v. Venegas*, 155 Wn. App. 507, 524, 228 P.3d 813 (2010) (quoting 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.01, at 85 (3d ed. 2008)). By using the word "until," the prosecutor suggested the presumption of innocence ended the moment the jurors walked into the jury room. This was incorrect. *State v. Reed*, 168 Wn.

App. 553, 578, 278 P.3d 203 (2012).

Although the prosecutor misspoke, reversal is unwarranted. When no objection is made to a prosecutor's misstatement of law during closing argument, we will not reverse unless the misstatement was so flagrant and misleading that it could not have been corrected by a curative instruction. *Id.* This is a classic example of an isolated misstatement that could easily have been corrected upon request. *See id.* at 579. We will not disturb a jury verdict under such circumstances.²

While defense counsel should have objected to the prosecutor's misstatement, Ms. Mendoza's ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails because she cannot establish prejudice. The prosecutor's remark was a very small part of his argument. It was neither repeated nor emphasized. Although, with the assistance of a transcript, we can parse the prosecutor's comment and discern error, there is no reason to think the prosecutor's momentary misstatement had an impact on the jury. The jury was properly instructed and told to disregard any statements by the attorneys that are not supported by the law. We presume the jury follows the court's instructions absent evidence to the contrary. *State v.*

² State v. Evans, 163 Wn. App. 635, 648, 260 P.3d 934 (2011); State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010); Venegas, 155 Wn. App. at 525; and State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213-16, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996) all involved multiple misstatements of law.

No. 34374-0-III State v. Mendoza

Lamar, 180 Wn.2d 576, 586, 327 P.3d 46 (2014). Ms. Mendoza has failed to show a basis for reversal.

CONCLUSION

Ms. Mendoza's conviction is affirmed. Her request to deny costs is granted.

A majority of the panel has determined this opinion will not be printed in the Washington Appellate Reports, but it will be filed for public record pursuant to RCW 2.06.040.

Pennell, J.

I CONCUR:

No. 34374-0-III

FEARING, C.J. (concurring) — I concur in the majority's decision, but I write separately because of a vacuous state of the law regarding prosecutorial misconduct. Conflicting decisions and principles occupy this field of law. These variances offer the court different paths to follow, which paths lead to opposite ends. I fear that available opposing paths allow reviewing judges unlimited discretion in deciding the outcome of prosecutorial misconduct appeals such that our personal partialities influence the results of cases.

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