FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/8/2017 4:37 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94879-8

THE SUPREME COURT OF

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

ANGELA VARGAS aka MENDOZA, Appellant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 4846 Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

TA	BLE OF AUTHORITIES ii-iii	
A.	INTRODUCTION1	
	ISSUES PRESENTED BY PETITION1

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

ARGUMENT

Petitions for review are governed by RAP 13.4(b), which sets forth the standard an appellant must meet before their case will be accepted by this court for review. Vargas alleges that the opinion issued in her case

merits review under sections (b) (2) and (3). The court of appeals opinion does not meet any of the criterion set forth in RAP 13.4(b) The Court of Appeals opinion does not <u>1</u>) Conflict with any decision by this court; **2**) the opinion does not conflict with any opinion of the other two divisions of the Court of Appeals; <u>(3)</u> not does the opinion address issues that are significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the Constitution of United States.

Statement made in closing.

Judge Pennell correctly opined that "[a]lthough the prosecutor misspoke, reversal is unwarranted. When no objection is made to a prosecutor's misstatement of law during closing argument, we will not reverse unless the misstatement was so flagrant and misleading that it could not have been corrected by a curative instruction. <u>Id</u>. (<u>State v.</u> <u>Reed</u>, 168 Wn. App. 553, 578, 278 P.3d 203 (2012)) This is a classic example of an isolated misstatement that could easily have been corrected upon request. See id. at 579. We will not disturb a jury verdict under such circumstances."

This portion of this opinion was based on, <u>State v. Reed</u>, 168 Wn. App. 553, 578, 278 P.3d 203 (2012) a case in good standing. The court also addresses and distinguishes: <u>State v. Evans</u>, 163 Wn. App. 635, 648, 260 P.3d 934 (2011), <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 158 Wn. App. 677,243 P.3d 936 (2010), <u>State v. Venegas</u>, 155 Wn. App. 228 P.3d 813 (2010 and <u>State v.</u> <u>Fleming</u>, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213-16, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996) stating in footnote 2 "all involved multiple misstatements of law." (Slip at 3) <u>Fleming</u> and <u>Johnson</u> are the two cases that Vargas says conflict with the opinion in her case. The do not conflict, they are distinguishable, facts matter and in this case the facts do not match the facts which were pivotal in <u>Fleming</u> and <u>Johnson</u>.

In a nearly twenty-page concurrence Judge Fearing addressed the issue stating that the state of the law was "vacuous." The State would disagree with that comment, the state of law in this area is not vacuous. Vacuous means "having or showing a lack of thought or intelligence. https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/vacuous, the rulings of this court and other courts of appeal in this state regarding the issue of allege prosecutorial misconduct are not thoughtless or unintelligent. Nor are the synonyms of vacuous applicable to the rulings of this this court and the other courts of review, the rulings are not mindless, silly, inane, unintelligent, insipid, foolish, stupid, fatuous, idiotic, brainless, witless, vapid, vacant, or empty-headed.

Vargas bases most of this petition on the concurring opinion of Judge Fearing, a concurrence that goes through this area of the law for twenty-pages to come to the determination that the was no reversible error.

While getting to that conclusion it would appear that Judge Fearing is indicating that this court and, apparently The Supreme Court of the United States, incorrectly decided <u>State v. Walker</u>, 182 Wn.2d 463,477,341 P.3d 976, cert denied, 135 S. Ct. 2844, 192 L. Ed. 2d 876 (2015) and <u>State v.</u> <u>Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d 741, 761-62, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) stating:

The Supreme Court has written twice that we should not focus on the prosecutor's subjective intent in committing misconduct, but instead on whether the defendant received a fair trial in light of the prejudice caused by the violation of existing prosecutorial standards and whether that prejudice could have been cured with a timely objection. <u>State v. Walker</u>, 182 Wn.2d at 478 (2015); <u>State v. Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 762 (2012). This principle conflicts with the common understanding of ill-intention being subjective in nature. Intentions are always subjective.

The Petitioner quotes extensively from this concurrence however;

Vargas fails to include the last paragraph which closes with the following:

The decision as to whether prosecutorial misconduct warrants a new trial for Angela Mendoza poses a more difficult question than the majority opinion recognizes. <u>I</u> agree, however, with the majority. The prevailing Washington view reverses convictions in trials wherein the prosecuting attorney eroded the presumption of innocence only when the prosecutor uttered other misstatements of the law. Angela Mendoza's trial court rendered a jury instruction that properly instructed the jury on the presumption of innocence. During trial, Angela Mendoza supplied no plausible explanation as to why she returned, for a refund, toys to a local Toys R Us store and represented that the franchise shipped the purchased toys to her home, when someone had earlier stolen the toys from the victim's locked storage unit. (Emphasis added.) Vargas argues that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting and asking the court to cure this misstatement. She argues that he would have been effective he would have requested a curative instruction and that when given it would have been followed by the jury because "[a]s this Court has frequently noted, juries are presumed to follow such instructions." (Petition at 10). Vargas then argues in literally the next paragraph the jury would not have followed the written jury instructions because the jury apparently would not have been smart enough to understand the difference between the words "unless" and "until" stating "[i]t would be logical, although improper, for the jury to view the concept as the prosecutor did in Venegas."

Vargas argues in the first instance that it was error to not instruct because the jury *would have followed* the correct instruction and then instantly Vargas flips that argument, arguing that even though the court correctly instructed the jury that jury *would not*, for some reason, follow those valid, agreed to, instructions.

The law does not allow Vargas to have it both ways. She can't argue that the jury is presumed to follow instructions when it suits her needs then argue in the same breath that this well-grounded rule does not apply to certain instructions. That the very same jury would not have

followed the black letter law that was read to them by the court, that they had physically in their hands as they entered the jury room and that they had in their hands as they deliberated because it does not support her claim. The law does not change as needed by the party arguing an issue.

Vargas claims this one statement is a "slow erosion of the presumption of innocence" but can cite to no other case were one statement, such at the one in this case resulted in a court overturning a conviction When coupled with the over whelming evidence or as the concurrence stated "Angela Mendoza supplied no plausible explanation as to why she returned, for a refund, toys to a local Toys R Us store and represented that the franchise shipped the purchased toys to her home, when someone had earlier stolen the toys from the victim's locked storage unit" (Slip concurrence at 20) there was no error by the Court of Appeals.

The opinion in this case does not meet any of the criterion of RAP 13.4(b), it does not conflict with any opinion of this court or any of the other courts of appeal in this state nor does it present a significant question of law under either Constitution. While the concurrence does take twenty pages to address what Judge Fearing terms the vacuous state of the law, he in the end agrees that the law, all of it "good law" supports the decision that the majority came to in four pages. There is no doubt that this opinion is a significant question of law to the petitioner but that is not the

standard.

As judges Korsmo and Pennell opined, "The prosecutor's remark was a very small part of his argument. It was neither repeated nor emphasized. Although, with the assistance of a transcript, we can parse the prosecutor's comment and discern error, there is no reason to think the prosecutor's momentary misstatement had an impact on the jury. The jury was properly instructed and told to disregard any statements by the attorneys that are not supported by the law."

This opinion follows the edicts of <u>Johnson</u>, and <u>Fleming</u>, supra. In both of those cases the court very specifically indicated that the prosecutor made more than one statement, Johnson alleged three occasions where the prosecutor committed error. In <u>Fleming</u> while there was a single instance is distinguishable on the facts the State argued that the only way for the jury to acquit Fleming is if the jury believed that the victim was lying about what occurred or that she was confused and fantasized what occurred. <u>Fleming</u> at 213.

In this case the Court of Appeals stated that there was a singular misstatement and that "...[w]hen no objection is made to a prosecutor's misstatement of law during closing argument, we will not reverse unless the misstatement was so flagrant and misleading that it could not have been corrected by a curative instruction. Id. This is a classic example of

an isolated misstatement that could easily have been corrected upon request. See id. at 579. We will not disturb a jury verdict under such circumstances. (Slip at 3, footnote omitted.)

The court in a footnote then addresses and distinguishes the two cases that Vargas now says are in cases that are in conflict with the ruling in her case. The footnote states "...all involved multiple misstatements of the law."

Ineffective assistance of counsel.

Once again there is nothing in the court's opinion that would merit review under RAP 13.4(b). The court only cited one case in this opinion the totality of the written opinion regarding this alleged issue is:

While defense counsel should have objected to the prosecutor's misstatement, Ms. Mendoza's ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails because she cannot establish prejudice. The prosecutor's remark was a very small part of his argument. It was neither repeated nor emphasized. Although, with the assistance of a transcript, we can parse the prosecutor's comment and discern error, there is no reason to think the prosecutor's momentary misstatement had an impact on the jury. The jury was properly instructed and told to disregard any statements by the attorneys that are not supported by the law. We presume the jury follows the court's instructions absent evidence to the contrary. <u>State v. Lamar</u>, 180 Wn.2d 576,586,327 P.3d 46 (2014). Ms. Mendoza has failed to show a basis for reversal.

Each juror literally had a copy of the written instructions before

them, RP 109, the court read the reasonable doubt instruction to the jury

and they had the instructions with them in the jury room. RP 113, 117.

The defendant could have objected to the misstatement made by the State but did not, the Court of Appeals stated that he should have. If he had done so there would have been a new instruction by the court or the State most likely would have apologized and restated the correct verbiage. The attorney did not object, for whatever reason, this therefore was an unpreserved error and with those facts before it the court of appeals determined that the very minimal nature of the misstatement by the State did was such that Vargas could not demonstrate that she had been prejudiced. (Slip at 3)

Further, the court instructed the jury in its opening instruction that "First off, the lawyers' remarks, statements and arguments are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. They are not evidence, however, and you should disregard any remark, statement or argument which is not supported by the evidence or by the law as I give it to you." RP 18 and again in the actual jury instructions prior to deliberations. RP 111.

Lastly the final argument to the jury regarding reasonable doubt came from Vargas's trial attorney, "Now, some of you have sat on trials before. You've been through this process. You know what the rules are. If there are others that this is a brand new experience, help them out, please.

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt means you have no reason to doubt." RP 128.

Once again the law in this area is set in concrete. The actions of Vargas's trial counsel were not such that his assistance was ineffective. <u>State v. Odom</u>, 8 Wn. App. 180, 504 P.2d 1186 (1973) "A defendant charged with a crime is constitutionally entitled to a fair trial, but not necessarily to a perfect trial. <u>Bruton v. United States</u>, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L. Ed. 2d 476, 88 S. Ct. 1620 (1968)."

The Court of Appeals ruling does not conflict with any case and the court' opinion does not raise a significant question of law under any constitution.

It is well settled law that for an appellant to establish that counsel was ineffective, they must show that counsel's conduct was deficient and that the deficient performance resulted in prejudice. <u>State v. Nichols</u>, 161 Wn.2d 1, 8, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007) (adopting test in <u>Strickland v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). To show deficient representation, Mendoza had to prove to the Court of Appeals that her counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on all of the circumstances. <u>Nichols</u>, 161 Wn.2d at 8 (citing <u>State v. McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)). Here the allegation is based solely one statement,

made in closing. She would therefore have to demonstrate that "Prejudice (was) established if there (was) a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the trial outcome would have been different. <u>Nichols</u>, 161 Wn.2d at 8.

The claimed deficiency here is the failure to challenge a statement made by the State. A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel may be considered for the first time on appeal if it is an issue of constitutional magnitude. <u>Nichols</u>, 161 Wn.2d at 9. Mendoza must first establish that the claimed error is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." <u>McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d at 333 (quoting RAP 2.5(a)(3)). To be "manifest," an alleged error must have "practical and identifiable consequences in the trial." <u>State v. Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. 373, 381, 98 P.3d 518 (2004) (quoting <u>State v. Lynn</u>, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992)). The law is immutable, if the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record on appeal, no actual prejudice is shown, and the error is not manifest. <u>McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d at 333 (citing <u>State v. Riley</u>, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993)).

There was no record for the Court of Appeals to review, Petitioner did not preserve this issue in the trial court.

The Court of appeals in a unanimous opinion citing black letter law upheld Vargas conviction. There is nothing in that opinion which would warrant the court's further review under RAP 13.4(b)

D. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals opinion, either the majority opinion or the concurrence and/or the combined opinion are not such that any part or portion falls within the edicts of RAP 13.4(b). This case does not merit review by this court.